



Inter-Parliamentary Union  
For democracy. For everyone.

# 149th IPU Assembly

## Geneva

### 13–17 October 2024



Standing Committee on  
Democracy and Human Rights

C-III/149/DR-am-rev  
10 October 2024

## The impact of artificial intelligence on democracy, human rights and the rule of law

***Amendments to the draft resolution submitted within the statutory deadline by the delegations of Argentina, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bahrain, China, Czechia, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Lithuania, Nicaragua, Pakistan, Philippines, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, South Africa, South Sudan, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand and the United Arab Emirates***

### PREAMBULAR

#### Preambular paragraph 1

Replace the existing text of preambular paragraph 1 with the following:

(1) **Reaffirming international law, in particular the Charter of the United Nations, and recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,**

(China)

Replace the existing text of preambular paragraph 1 with the following:

(1) **Reaffirming the values of the Charter of the United Nations, including the principle of the sovereign equality of all States and the right to self-determination, as well as the values of the World Summit on the Information Society (WSIS), its Geneva Declaration of Principles and Plan of Action, and its Tunis Agenda for the Information Society,**

(Iran (Islamic Republic of))

Amend to read as follows:

(1) **Recognizing that rapid advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) may provide significant opportunities and challenges for humanity, including its influence on the full and effective enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms,**

(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

(1) **Recognizing that advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) may provide significant opportunities and challenges for humanity,**

(Romania)

Amend to read as follows:

(1) **Recognizing that advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) may provide significant opportunities, and challenges and threats for humanity,**

(Nicaragua)

E

#IPU149

Amend to read as follows:

(1) *Recognizing* that advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) may provide significant opportunities and challenges for humanity, **and bearing in mind that AI may have very different impacts in different parts of the world, and should at all times encourage justice and be put in place in accordance with inclusive international regulations,**  
(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

(1) *Recognizing* that advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) may provide significant opportunities and challenges for humanity, **while at the same time mindful of varying levels of technological development as well as AI divides and other digital divides that exist between and within countries,**  
(Thailand)

Amendment proposed by France: *No impact on the English*

Preambular paragraph 2

Amend to read as follows:

(2) *Acknowledging* that greater knowledge and understanding of AI systems, **encompassing both their capabilities and limitations, particularly among communities,** is a prerequisite for **fostering** informed debate and decision-making **processes,**  
(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

(2) *Acknowledging* that greater knowledge and understanding of AI systems is a prerequisite for informed debate, **reliability** and decision-making,  
(Sweden)

New preambular paragraph 2 bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Acknowledging also the uneven distribution of the effects of AI between different social groups, meaning that the risks of AI may be directed at those who are already in a vulnerable position,**  
(Finland)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Acknowledging also the importance of training parliamentarians and raising awareness among citizens on the impact of AI on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, including social issues,**  
(South Sudan)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Recalling UN General Assembly resolution 78/311 (2024), which highlights the widening digital divides in artificial intelligence between and within countries, acknowledges the unique challenges faced by developing countries in keeping pace with AI advancements, and underscores the urgent need to narrow these disparities and support AI capacity-building in developing countries so that they will not be further left behind,**  
(Pakistan)

New preambular paragraphs 2bis and 2ter

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Acknowledging also the importance of more inclusive and equitable access to the benefits of new and emerging technologies and AI innovation, while ensuring the preservation of human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the right to life, privacy, and freedom of expression in line with international law, and particularly international human rights law, as the central pillar for AI regulation in the rapidly evolving AI landscape,**  
(Thailand)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2bis to read as follows:

**(2ter) Recalling the landmark UN General Assembly resolution 78/265 (2024), which encourages countries to promote safe, secure and trustworthy artificial intelligence systems and related technologies to accelerate progress towards the full realization of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, while safeguarding human rights, protecting data privacy and monitoring AI for potential risks,**

*(Thailand)*

New preambular paragraphs 2bis and 2ter

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Recalling UN General Assembly resolution 78/265 (2024), Seizing the opportunities of safe, secure and trustworthy artificial intelligence systems for sustainable development, and resolution 78/311 (2024), Enhancing international cooperation on capacity-building of artificial intelligence, which emphasize that AI systems must fully respect, promote and protect human rights and international law throughout their entire life cycle,**

*(Romania)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2bis to read as follows:

**(2ter) Welcoming the adoption at the UN Summit of the Future of the Global Digital Compact, which calls for a balanced, inclusive and risk-based approach to the governance of artificial intelligence, as a means to achieve an open, sustainable, fair, free, and secure future for all,**

*(Romania)*

New preambular paragraphs 2bis, 2ter, 2quarter

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2 to read as follows:

**(2bis) Recognizing that AI systems have the potential to entrench existing societal prejudices, discrimination, bias and inequalities both within developing countries as well as between developing and more developed countries, and to violate the privacy and other human rights of citizens,**

*(South Africa)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2bis to read as follows:

**(2ter) Acknowledging that AI can facilitate the spread of false or misleading information and extremism leading to misinformation, disinformation and distrust, which undermine the credibility of democratic institutions and actors, posing significant challenges to public discourse and societal trust,**

*(South Africa)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 2ter to read as follows:

**(2quater) Reaffirming the commitment to the responsible creation and deployment of AI systems, and ensuring that such technologies are developed and utilized within the framework of humanity, dignity, safety, security, and the preservation of human rights and fundamental freedoms,**

*(South Africa)*

Preambular paragraph 3

Amend to read as follows:

**(3) Alarmed that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect women and girls,**

*(Russian Federation)*

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ **Noting** that advances in AI **can** have ~~already had~~ considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect **vulnerable sections of society, including children, women and girls,**

(India)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had ~~considerable~~ impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may ~~disproportionately affect~~ **have discriminatory effects, e.g. on women and girls, if the underlying data sets are discriminatory,**

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable **adverse** impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect women ~~and~~ girls **and all persons in vulnerable situations,**

(Romania)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable **negative** impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect women and girls,

(France)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, ~~and may disproportionately affect women and girls,~~ **directly affecting humanity and the most vulnerable groups such as women and children,**

(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect ~~women and girls~~ **vulnerable individuals,**

(Argentina)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect **vulnerable groups, including women and girls, non-binary individuals, and those coming from different cultures and traditions,**

(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and **that AI may also** disproportionately affect women and girls, **bearing in mind that AI can also be used to limit access to information or for surveillance purposes,**

(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

(3) ~~Alarmed~~ that advances in AI have already had considerable impacts on democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and may disproportionately affect women ~~and~~ girls, **the elderly, persons with disabilities, marginalized individuals and people in vulnerable situations,**

(Thailand)

New preambular paragraph 3bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 3 to read as follows:

**(3bis) *Affirming that human rights and fundamental freedoms must be respected, protected and promoted throughout the life cycle of AI systems and that new and emerging digital technologies should provide new means to promote, protect and exercise human rights and not infringe upon them,***

*(Czechia)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 3 to read as follows:

**(3bis) *Aware, at the same time, that AI technologies, if developed and harnessed in a responsible manner and made available to all, can have a positive impact on democracy, including through increasing accountability and transparency of public institutions, and facilitating citizens' engagement in political processes,***

*(Romania)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 3 to read as follows:

**(3) *Recognizing the need for increased international cooperation and a global consensus on the future development and implementation of safe AI systems, and the development of a global framework that is agile, adaptable, inclusive and responsive to the needs of both developed and developing countries and give all nations proper representation at the table of discussions on AI governance for sustainable development,***

*(Thailand)*

New preambular paragraphs 3bis and 3ter

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 3 to read as follows:

**3bis) *Cautioning against the misuse of AI as a means of repression and control over individuals, in disregard of their fundamental rights and freedoms,***

*(France)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 3bis to read as follows:

**3ter) *Highlighting the risk of AI widening economic inequalities and the digital divide on a global scale,***

*(France)*

Preambular paragraph 4

Amend to read as follows:

**(4) *Acknowledging that an inclusive approach to setting rules pertaining to the creation, deployment and use of AI technologies is required, in order to ensure equitable policy outcomes for the entire world, including the Global South,***

*(France)*

Amend to read as follows:

**(4) *Acknowledging that an inclusive approach to setting rules pertaining to the creation, deployment transfer and use of AI technologies is required, in order to ensure equitable policy outcomes for the entire world, including the Global South, and must be established in all countries of the world,***

*(Nicaragua)*

Amend to read as follows:

**(4) *Acknowledging that an inclusive, responsible, human-centric and evidence-based approach to in mitigating the risks and setting rules pertaining to the creation, development, deployment and use of AI technologies is required, in order to ensure equitable policy outcomes for the entire world, including the Global South, and to bridge the digital divide, specifically targeting the vulnerable sections of society,***

*(India)*

Amend to read as follows:

(4) *Acknowledging* that an inclusive approach to setting rules pertaining to the creation, deployment and use of AI technologies is required, in order to ensure equitable policy outcomes for the entire world, including ~~Global South~~ **developing countries which face unique challenges in keeping up with the rapid pace of digital innovation,**

(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

(4) *Acknowledging* that an inclusive approach to setting rules pertaining to the creation, deployment and use of AI technologies is required, in order to ensure equitable policy outcomes for the entire world, ~~including~~ **with a special focus on** the Global South,

(Azerbaijan)

New preambular paragraphs 4bis and 4ter

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 4 to read as follows:

**(4bis) Aware that the widening global digital divide limits drastically the ability of developing countries to fully enjoy AI benefits and meaningfully participate in AI-related processes,**

(Romania)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 4bis to read as follows:

**(4ter) Stressing that in the absence of gender-balanced perspectives, data and decision-making, AI technologies, in particular generative AI, can create, perpetuate or amplify gender inequalities and gender-based discrimination and violence, and recalling that, according to the World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report 2024, the percentage of women working in AI is less than 30% and is progressing very slowly,**

(Romania)

Preambular paragraph 5

Amend to read as follows:

(5) ~~Concerned~~ **Aware of the need for each Member Parliament to legislate on issues** ~~by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations related to~~ the responsible creation, ~~transfer~~ deployment and use of AI technology, ~~as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,~~ **respecting the sovereignty of each State,**

(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) ~~Concerned~~ by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations **a globally agreed upon and consolidated regulatory framework** for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) ~~Concerned~~ by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,

(France)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) ~~Concerned~~ by the lack of comprehensive **and inclusive** legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, **development,** deployment and use of AI technology, ~~as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,~~

(India)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) *Concerned* by the lack of comprehensive legislation, regulations **and appropriate safeguards** for the responsible creation, **design, development,** deployment, use, **evaluation and regulation** of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,

(Czechia)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) *Concerned* by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules **legal regulations,**

(Russian Federation)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) *Concerned* by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules **to mitigate the risks to fundamental rights and safety posed by AI,**

(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) *Concerned* by the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules, **and bearing in mind that transparency and respect for democratic values should at all times be respected when AI systems are being developed,**

(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

(5) ~~*Concerned by*~~ **Noting** the lack of comprehensive legislation and regulations for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, as well as the slow pace of the global community in developing these rules,

(Azerbaijan)

New preambular paragraph 5bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 5 to read as follows:

(5bis) **Emphasizing** that international governance of AI requires an inclusive, agile, multi-disciplinary and adaptable approach with equal and full participation of all countries including the developing countries and with the United Nations playing a leading role in shaping, enabling and supporting such governance,

(Pakistan)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 5 to read as follows:

(5bis) **Aware** that millions of full-time jobs could be lost due to AI automation in the next few years,

(United Arab Emirates)

Preambular paragraph 6

Replace the existing text of preambular paragraph 6 with the following:

(6) **Concerned by AI and other digital divides between and within countries, and the disruption of the global AI supply chain through technological monopolies and unilateral coercive measures,**

(Iran (Islamic Republic of))

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI while allowing scope for innovations to occur that positively benefit **create advantages for** humanity,  
(Azerbaijan)

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI ~~while allowing scope for~~ **without preventing the emergence of** innovations to occur that positively benefit humanity,  
(France)

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI while ~~allowing~~ **enabling** scope for innovations to occur that positively benefit humanity,  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI while allowing scope for innovations to occur that positively benefit humanity **in the fast-changing world of AI**,  
(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI while allowing scope for innovations to occur that positively benefit humanity, **as well as the importance of including ethical considerations in the development and deployment of AI systems to ensure their alignment with international human rights frameworks**,  
(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

(6) *Acknowledging* the importance of regulating AI while allowing scope for innovations to occur that positively benefit humanity, **as well as the need for regulations to achieve development**,  
(Sweden)

Preambular paragraph 7

Replace the existing text of preambular paragraph 7 with the following:

(7) **Recognizing the need for technology companies to work in a collaborative manner for the development of safe, secure and trustworthy AI**,  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies **and totalitarian states** have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, not the global community,  
(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that **certain** big technology companies have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, not the global community,  
(Republic of Korea)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed Concerned* that big technology companies, **especially arms companies**, have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, not the global community, **human beings, nor world peace**,  
(Nicaragua)



Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, ~~not~~ **and to assert their control over training data sets and thus the technological development of AI for the foreseeable future, to the detriment of the global community,**

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, ~~not the global community,~~ **to the detriment of individuals and of society,**

(France)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies, **who actively contract the services of AI firms,** have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, not the global community, **which has significantly reshaped the business landscape and has had serious implications on labor and employment practices,**

(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies have lobbied extensively to influence and set rules that may primarily benefit them, not the global community, **such as the manipulation of personal data, unethical business marketing, non-socially responsible behaviours and algorithmic biases that reinforce already existing inequalities and discrimination,**

(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

(7) *Alarmed* that big technology companies have lobbied extensively to influence and set ~~rules~~ **legal regulations** that may primarily benefit them, not the global community,

(Russian Federation)

New preambular paragraph 7 bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 7 to read as follows:

(7bis) ***Encouraging* parliaments to promote transparency and accountability in AI-related policies, research, and development, as well as to facilitate the sharing of information and experiences regarding the governance and regulation of AI at the international level,**

(South Africa)

Preambular paragraph 8

Replace the existing text of preambular paragraph 8 with the following:

(8) ***Convinced* that rules for designing, developing and deploying AI are best set using a multi-stakeholder approach that guarantees a broad consensus across the global community,**

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

(8) ~~*Noting*~~ ***Considering*** that countries ~~may already~~ have existing legislation and regulations that could be adapted, **in strict compliance with their national legislation,** to meet emerging challenges and opportunities relating to AI,

(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

(8) *Noting that **some** countries ~~may~~ already have existing legislation and regulations that could be adapted to meet emerging challenges and opportunities relating to AI,*  
(France)

Amend to read as follows:

(8) *Noting that countries may already have existing legislation and regulations ~~that could be adapted~~ to meet emerging challenges and opportunities relating to AI,*  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

(8) *Noting that countries may already have existing legislation and regulations that could be adapted to meet emerging challenges and opportunities relating to AI, **focusing on best practices in this field, and being mindful of the fact that totalitarian regimes might use AI to promote their own agenda,***  
(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

(8) *Noting that countries may already have existing legislation and regulations that could be adapted to meet emerging challenges and opportunities relating to AI, **thereby providing a foundation for a contextually relevant regulatory approach,***  
(South Africa)

Preambular paragraph 9

Amend to read as follows:

(9) *Noting also numerous international and regional initiatives to develop ethical standards and governance frameworks for AI, **in particular the Council of Europe Framework Convention on Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights, Democracy and the Rule of Law (2024), which has the potential to become the global standard and is open to all States to join,***  
(Lithuania)

Amend to read as follows:

(9) *Noting also numerous international and regional initiatives, **including the 2024 Responsible AI in the Military Domain (REAIM) Summit,** to develop ethical standards and governance frameworks for AI, **in light of the global commitment to leverage AI's potential in military applications while fully addressing its associated risks,***  
(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

(9) *Noting also numerous international and regional initiatives to develop ethical standards and governance frameworks ~~for~~ **to ensure the ethical and sustainable use of AI,***  
(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

(9) *~~Noting also~~ **Recognizing** numerous international and regional initiatives to develop ethical standards and governance frameworks for AI,*  
(Nicaragua)

New preambular paragraph 9bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**9bis) Welcoming the Council of Europe Framework Convention on Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights, Democracy and the Rule of Law, adopted in May 2024, which is the first legally binding international treaty on AI,**  
(France)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**(9bis) Welcoming the Council of Europe Framework Convention on Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights, Democracy and the Rule of Law, the first-ever international legally binding treaty in this field, whose aim is to ensure that activities within the lifecycle of AI systems are fully consistent with human rights, democracy and the rule of law, while promoting technological progress and innovation,**

*(Romania)*

Preambular paragraph 10

Amend to read as follows:

(10) *Applauding* the welcome efforts of ~~key~~ international organizations to help parliamentarians and other actors develop regulatory frameworks and policies,

*(France)*

Amend to read as follows:

(10) *Applauding* the welcome efforts of key international organizations to ~~help~~ **assist** parliamentarians and other actors **in developing global** regulatory frameworks and policies,

*(Sweden)*

Amend to read as follows:

(10) *Applauding* the welcome efforts of ~~key~~ international organizations ~~to help~~ **that assist** parliamentarians and other actors **in developing** regulatory frameworks and policies,

*(Nicaragua)*

New preambular paragraph 10bis

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10 to read as follows:

**(10bis) Mindful of the IPU resolution, Addressing the social and humanitarian impact of autonomous weapon systems and artificial intelligence, adopted at the 148th Assembly, which emphasizes the danger to human rights of a lack of control and explicit regulations around the use of autonomous weapon systems,**

*(Austria)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10 to read as follows:

**(10bis) Expressing concern about the increasing politicization of cooperation in the field of AI, as well as the imposition of unilateral restrictions (sanctions) on the supply of AI systems and related technologies and equipment, with the aim of hampering cooperation in this field,**

*(Russian Federation)*

New preambular paragraphs 10bis, 10ter, 10quater, 10quinquies, 10sexies and 10septies

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10 to read as follows:

**(10bis) Recognizing that advancements in AI may intensify digital and social disparities between countries, which necessitates the adoption of policies that include strategies to reduce these disparities and ensure that all countries benefit fairly and equitably from technology,**

*(Bahrain)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10bis to read as follows:

**(10ter) Emphasizing the importance of enhancing international cooperation in the field of AI to exchange knowledge and expertise, and to coordinate the development of policies and regulatory procedures to ensure optimal outcomes at both local and international levels,**

*(Bahrain)*

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10ter to read as follows:

**(10quater) *Recognizing the vital role of education and training in preparing individuals to keep pace with advancements in AI, and the necessity of implementing specialized education and training programmes to equip future generations with the necessary skills,***  
(Bahrain)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10quater to read as follows:

**(10quinquies) *Noting the need for effective strategies to address the impact of AI on the labour market, including measures to mitigate the effects of automation on specific job sectors and to provide support to affected individuals,***  
(Bahrain)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10quinquies to read as follows:

**(10sexies) *Emphasizing the importance of integrating ethical and cultural aspects in the development and application of AI technologies to ensure their alignment with global human values and principles,***  
(Bahrain)

Add a new paragraph after preambular paragraph 10sexies to read as follows:

**(10septies) *Expressing concern with respect to the absence of effective legal mechanisms to monitor and evaluate the impact of AI on electoral integrity and the functioning of democracy, as well as the risks of digital falsification and media misinformation, making it imperative to establish legal frameworks that provide a robust defense against misinformation and manipulation in all its forms,***  
(Bahrain)

**OPERATIVE**

Operative paragraph 1

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased **multi-stakeholder** international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing risk;*  
(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation **and collaboration** to ensure **the establishment of global norms for the ethical development and use of AI** ~~a united worldwide effort~~ to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing risk;*  
(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation **and capacity-building** to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity, **including through equitable access to AI technologies** while ~~preventing~~ **mitigating** risk;*  
(Pakistan)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation **to ensure the harmonious deployment of AI on a united worldwide effort scale**, to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing risks;*  
(France)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity **for the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals** while preventing **possible risks to human dignity, peace, justice and the environment**;*  
(Azerbaijan)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity, **as a form of information and communication technology**, while preventing risk, **including through participation in annual AI ethics forums where projects to improve ethical and regulatory standards are developed and ethical regulation initiatives are shaped for inclusion in an AI development strategy**;*  
(Russian Fédération)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity, **ensuring equitable access to its benefits and bridging digital divides**, while preventing risk;*  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity, ~~while~~ **prioritizing the urgent demands related to the integrity and the dignity of each individual and of humanity as a whole**;*  
(Argentina)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing risks, **by working towards a globally agreed upon and consolidated regulatory framework, building on existing approaches in various regions of the world;***  
(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing risks **and threats;***  
(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing ~~risk~~ **risks that transcend borders, especially in the Global South;***  
(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

1. *Calls for increased international cooperation to ensure a united worldwide effort to maximize the benefits of AI to humanity while preventing **the risks posed by this technology, such as discrimination and interference with the fundamental rights of individuals, transparency and accountability issues, and the undermining of intellectual property;***  
(Thailand)

New operative paragraph 1bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 1 to read as follows:

- 1bis. Promotes North-South, North-South-South and South-South collaboration aimed at developing ethically responsible AI infrastructure and joint strategies, as well as reducing digital, technological and knowledge gaps;**  
(Azerbaijan)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 1 to read as follows:

- 1bis. Calls for urgent measures to bridge the divides among and within countries in terms of digital infrastructure, connectivity and skills, including by removing digital gender barriers and scaling up international digital cooperation, as a precondition for equitable and inclusive access to AI benefits for all;**  
(Romania)

Operative paragraph 2

Amend to read as follows:

2. ~~Insists on~~ **Underlines the need to bridge the digital divide and** ~~the inclusion of~~ **include** perspectives from every region of the world, including the Global South, in debates on AI standards and frameworks **and other governance mechanisms;**  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

2. ~~Insists on the inclusion of~~ **taking into account** perspectives from every region of the world, ~~including the Global South,~~ in debates on AI standards and frameworks;  
(France)

Amend to read as follows:

2. ~~Insists on the inclusion of perspectives from every region~~ **all countries** of the world ~~including the Global South~~ in debates on AI standards and frameworks;  
(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

2. *Insists on **the equal participation and** inclusion of perspectives from every region of the world, ~~including with a special focus on~~ the Global South, in debates on AI standards and frameworks;*

*(Azerbaijan)*

Amend to read as follows:

2. *Insists on the inclusion of perspectives from every region of the world, including the Global South, **through dedicated consultations and regional forums**, in debates on AI standards and frameworks;*

*(Indonesia)*

Amend to read as follows:

2. *Insists on the inclusion of perspectives from every region of the world, including the Global South, in debates on AI standards, ~~and~~ frameworks **and the development of international AI governance**;*

*(Pakistan)*

Amend to read as follows:

2. *Insists on the inclusion of perspectives from every region of the world, including the Global South, in debates on AI standards and frameworks, **including by involving their representatives in the activities of relevant international standardization committees and working groups**;*

*(Russian Federation)*

Amend to read as follows:

2. *Insists on the inclusion of perspectives from every region of the world, including the Global South, in debates on AI standards and frameworks, **maintaining a perspective focused on peacekeeping and the development of current and future generations**;*

*(Argentina)*

New operative paragraph 2bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 2 to read as follows:

- 2bis. Calls for promoting equitable access to developments and knowledge in the field of AI;**

*(Azerbaijan)*

Operative paragraph 3

Replace the existing text of operative paragraph 3 with the following:

3. **Calls upon parliamentarians to refrain from enacting legislation which would exacerbate AI and other digital divides between and within countries and disrupt the AI supply chain;**

*(Iran (Islamic Republic of))*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon parliaments to ~~quickly~~ develop strong legal frameworks and policies for the responsible creation, ~~transfer~~ deployment and use of AI technology, ~~and to contribute to efforts to set global standards and frameworks for the same goal~~ **based on responsible development, transparency, equity and inclusion, data protection and privacy, international collaboration, innovation and sustainable development, and security and risk mitigation**;*

*(Nicaragua)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly develop ~~strong~~ legal frameworks and policies for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, and to contribute to efforts to set ~~global standards and frameworks~~ **fair international technical standards and requirements within the Inter-Parliamentary Union and other specialized platforms** for the same goal;

*(Russian Federation)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly develop ~~adopt or maintain~~ strong legal frameworks and policies for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI ~~technology~~ **systems**, and to ~~contribute~~ **coordinate with existing** efforts to set global standards and frameworks ~~for the same goal~~;

*(Switzerland)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly ~~respond to challenges effectively by~~ developing strong legal frameworks and policies for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, and to contribute to efforts to set global standards and frameworks for the same goal;

*(Azerbaijan)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly develop ~~show urgency in developing~~ strong legal frameworks and policies for the responsible ~~creation~~ **development**, deployment and use of AI technology, and to contribute to efforts to set global standards ~~and~~, frameworks **and other governance mechanisms** for the same goal;

*(India)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly develop ~~strong~~ **sound national legal and regulatory** frameworks and policies for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI technology, and to contribute to efforts to set global standards ~~and~~, frameworks, **stronger legal liabilities and ethical principles** for the same goal;

*(Thailand)*

Amend to read as follows:

3. *Calls upon* parliaments to quickly develop strong legal frameworks and policies **at the national level** for the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI ~~technology~~, and to contribute to efforts to set ~~global~~ standards and frameworks **at the global level** for the same goal;

*(France)*

New operative paragraph 3bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 3 to read as follows:

- 3bis. *Insists that AI systems used by the authorities are supervised by officials who are also responsible for using them, as well as ensuring the systems and the logic they use are transparent to the public;***

*(Finland)*

New operative paragraphs 3bis and 3ter

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 3 to read as follows:

- 3bis. *Recommends that these legal frameworks set out requirements for transparency and information in the implementation of AI systems, affirm the accountability of the public and private entities who use them, and provide recourse for victims whose rights are violated;***

*(France)*



Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 3bis to read as follows:

- 3ter. Recommends that regulatory bodies be set up to supervise and regulate the development of AI, ensuring that it respects human rights, democracy and the rule of law;**

(France)

Operative paragraph 4

Replace the existing text of operative paragraph 4 with the following:

4. **Recalls the Council of Europe Framework Convention on Artificial Intelligence and Human Rights, Democracy and the Rule of Law, with its commitment to adopt or maintain appropriate legislative, administrative or other measures to ensure that activities within the lifecycle of AI systems are fully consistent with human rights, democracy and the rule of law, and its encouragement to all States to become signatories;**

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments to ~~urgently~~ **give priority to** reviewing **and promoting risk-based** ~~legislation and~~ regulations to ensure no loopholes in existing protections for democracy, human rights and the rule of law have emerged due to advances in AI technology;

(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments to ~~urgently~~ review legislation and regulations to ensure **there are** no loopholes in ~~existing~~ protections for democracy, human rights ~~and~~, the rule of law ~~have emerged due to advances in AI technology,~~ **state sovereignty and the people's self-determination;**

(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments to ~~urgently~~ **provide assistance in reviewing** legislation and regulations to ensure no loopholes in existing protections for democracy, human rights and the rule of law have emerged due to advances in AI technology;

(Russian Federation)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments to ~~urgently~~ review **existing** legislation and regulations to ensure ~~no loopholes in existing protections for democracy~~ **they adequately protect democratic values**, human rights and the rule of law **against threats that** have emerged due to advances in AI technology;

(India)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments to ~~urgently~~ review legislation and regulations to ensure no loopholes in existing protections for democracy, human rights and the rule of law have emerged due to advances in AI technology;

(Azerbaijan)

Amend to read as follows:

4. ~~Invites~~ **Invites** parliaments, **in collaboration with multi-stakeholders, including academia, research institutions and technical communities**, to ~~urgently~~ **enact or** review legislation and regulations to ensure no loopholes in existing protections for democracy, human rights and the rule of law have emerged due to advances in AI technology, **thereby fostering an enabling ecosystem at every level;**

(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

4. *Invites* parliaments to urgently review legislation and regulations to ensure no loopholes in existing protections for democracy, human rights and the rule of law have emerged due to advances in AI technology, **with an emphasis on protecting vulnerable groups and ensuring safeguards for all members of society;**  
(Indonesia)

New operative paragraph 4bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 4 to read as follows:

- 4bis. Urges parliaments to ensure through legislation and strong policy measures that AI is not used in a discriminatory manner or in ways that exacerbate inequality;**  
(Finland)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 4 to read as follows:

- 4bis. Calls on parliaments, with a view to enhancing gender mainstreaming in the development of AI, to promote legislation and policies aimed at enabling and increasing girls' and women's access to education, careers and leadership in science, technology, engineering and mathematics;**  
(Romania)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 4 to read as follows:

- 4bis. Calls for strengthening the involvement of parliamentarians in policy dialogues on AI, including the parliamentary track at the United Nations Internet Governance Forum;**  
(Switzerland)

New operative paragraphs 4bis and 4ter

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 4 to read as follows:

- 4bis. Invites parliaments to ensure that advances in AI do not result in the perpetuation of discrimination stemming from biases present in training data and algorithms;**  
(France)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 4bis to read as follows:

- 4ter. Calls on parliaments to take measures to prevent the risk of AI being used in disinformation campaigns aimed at misleading, dividing and destabilizing societies and undermining democracy;**  
(France)

Operative paragraph 5

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* parliamentarians to submit proposals on legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images, as well as the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates hate speech or incites violence;  
(Russian Federation)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of **misuse of AI for distributing deepfake intimate images, as well as and for distributing of AI-generated content that propagates hate speech or, incites violence and disseminates political fake news and disinformation to disrupt democratic processes; as well as to prevent the use of biased data that can reinforce inequalities and discrimination;**  
(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images content, particularly image-based sexual abuse, recognizing that most of such content is pornographic in nature and disproportionately targets women and girls; as well as to prevent the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates hate speech or incites violence;

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images, as well as the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates extremism, discrimination, bias or hate speech, or incites violence, acknowledging that such content can result in unfair and harmful outcomes for individuals and groups;

(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images, as well as the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates misinformation, disinformation, hate speech or incites violence;

(Denmark)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images, as well as the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates hate speech or incites violence and discrimination in all forms;

(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

5. *Urges* legislative action to prevent the creation and distribution of deepfake intimate images, as well as the distribution of AI-generated content that propagates hate speech or incites violence, being mindful of the fact that regulatory frameworks are used alongside human rights instruments;

(Sweden)

#### Operative paragraph 6

Delete operative paragraph 6

- ~~6. *Calls for* the development and deployment of tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content;~~

(Russian Federation)

Amend to read as follows:

6. *Calls for* the compulsory watermarking of AI-generated content as well as the development and deployment of tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content to protect the democratic decision-making process;

(Germany)

Amend to read as follows:

6. *Calls for* the development and, deployment and widespread accessibility of tools to help people determine verify the provenance and authenticity of online images and content, and to further protect data privacy and prevent misuse of personal information and unauthorized access;

(India)

Amend to read as follows:

6. ~~Calls for~~ **upon governments and parliaments to ensure** the development and deployment of **effective and accessible** tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content;

(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

6. ~~Calls for~~ the development and deployment ~~transfer~~ of tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content;

(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

6. ~~Calls for~~ the development and deployment of tools to help people determine the provenance of **AI-generated** online images and content **and provide accountability for any violation of human rights arising therefrom;**

(Philippines)

Amend to read as follows:

6. ~~Calls for~~ the development and deployment of tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content, **or for the use of methods and protocols that are already available;**

(Sweden)

Amend to read as follows:

6. ~~Calls for~~ the development and deployment of tools to help people determine the provenance of online images and content **generated by AI that contain false or fabricated citations or artificial hallucinations which can lead to misinterpretation and misrepresentation by the public;**

(Thailand)

New operative paragraphs 6bis, 6ter, 6quater and 6quinquies

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 6 to read as follows:

- 6bis. Also calls upon parliaments to promote AI systems that advance, protect and preserve linguistic and cultural diversity, taking into account multilingualism in their training data and throughout the life cycle of the AI system;**

(South Africa)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 6bis to read as follows:

- 6ter. Urges parliaments to prioritize safeguarding privacy and personal information data use within AI systems, including transparent reporting requirements in line with international human rights guidelines regarding the use of personal data in AI systems;**

(South Africa)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 6ter to read as follows:

- 6quater. Also urges parliaments to advocate for initiatives that foster the participation and leadership of women in the field of AI development, highlighting the importance of gender-balanced representation in research, design and decision-making processes;**

(South Africa)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 6quater to read as follows:

**6quinquies. Encourages parliaments to advocate for transparent development of AI systems, ensuring that their processes, decision-making criteria and outcomes are understandable and accessible to users, which includes providing insights into functionality, decision logic, and potential impact to foster trust and accountability within AI implementations;**

*(South Africa)*

Operative paragraph 7

Amend to read as follows:

7. *Urges* parliaments to place a high priority on debates related to AI and to ensure their policy responses **evolve, taking into account national legal frameworks and keep pace with technological** advances in AI technology;

*(Nicaragua)*

Amend to read as follows:

7. *Urges* parliaments to place a high priority on ~~debates related to~~ **prudent and proactive exercise of their legislative powers to address emerging issues and complexities surrounding** AI and to ensure their policy responses keep pace with advances in AI technology;

*(Thailand)*

Amend to read as follows:

7. *Urges* parliaments to place a high priority on debates related to AI and to ensure their policy responses keep pace with advances in AI technology, **so as to ensure these efforts are conducive to people's well-being and sustainable development;**

*(China)*

New operative paragraph 7bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 7 to read as follows:

**7bis. Calls on parliaments to strengthen their capacity to proactively address rapid technological developments, particularly in the AI field, including through training programmes for members of parliament and staff; the setting up of specialized bodies and innovative dialogue formats with technical and academic communities, the private sector and all other stakeholders; and enhanced inter-parliamentary exchanges and cooperation;**

*(Romania)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 7 to read as follows:

**7bis. Also urges parliaments to cooperate with their governments in raising the awareness of citizens on the impact of AI on democracy, human rights and the rule of law;**

*(South Sudan)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 7 to read as follows:

**7bis. Calls upon national parliaments to accelerate efforts to tackle information privacy violations caused by the use of unacceptable AI practices, such as surveillance AI and biometric categorization technology in unwarranted political surveillance and personal data collection, which threatens citizens' fundamental rights and individual freedoms, thereby weakening democracy and the rule of law;**

*(Thailand)*

Operative paragraph 8

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased **efforts to promote digital literacy, skills and capacities for all, including and ongoing AI education, training and capacity-building about AI,** including for parliamentarians;*

*(Romania)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education **for all** about AI, including for parliamentarians **to avoid or significantly reduce digital illiteracy, leaving no one behind;***

*(Denmark)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education, **as well as research and development activities** about AI, **through national strategy and action plans,** including **capacity-building on digital skills and data literacy** for parliamentarians;*

*(Thailand)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education about **the uses and risks of** AI, including for parliamentarians;*

*(France)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education about **responsible** AI, including for parliamentarians;*

*(India)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education about AI **core functions, capabilities, limitations and appropriate use,** including for parliamentarians;*

*(South Africa)*

Amend to read as follows:

8. *Calls for increased and ongoing education about AI, including for parliamentarians, **to keep pace with its quickly evolving technological developments;***

*(Sweden)*

New operative paragraphs 8bis and 8ter

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 8 to read as follows:

- 8bis. Encourages Member Parliaments to urge their governments to strengthen the ability of developing countries, in particular the least developed, in AI capacity-building, with practical actions to benefit equitably from the digital transformation, reduce the digital gap within and between countries, improve global AI governance, and promote sustainable development empowered by AI, thereby enhancing the common well-being of humanity;**

*(Thailand)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 8bis to read as follows:

- 8ter. Urges Member Parliaments to mobilize further cooperation, research and technology sharing among stakeholders, including between and within the public and private sectors and civil society, academia and research institutions, and technical communities and the media, to develop and support regulatory and governance approaches and frameworks related to safe, secure and trustworthy use of AI that will also benefit sustainable development for all;**

*(Thailand)*

Operative paragraph 9

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI as a critical goal of their work.  
(Russian Federation)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI as a critical goal of their work.  
(France)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible ~~creation~~ **development**, deployment and use of AI as a critical goal of their work.  
(India)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, ~~deployment~~ **transfer** and use of AI as a critical goal of their work.  
(Nicaragua)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and **strategic** use of AI as a critical goal of their work **and in terms of development, action against hunger, poverty and anything that puts the integral development of people at risk.**  
(Argentina)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI, **including through capacity-building initiatives**, as a critical goal of their work.  
(South Africa)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI as a critical goal of their work **to ensure human-centric technology, with an adequate degree of human oversight of algorithmic decision-making and ethical design in all AI-based decision-making systems.**  
(Thailand)

Amend to read as follows:

9. *Urges* parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to continue to focus attention on the responsible creation, deployment and use of AI as a critical goal of their work, **in alignment with internationally agreed ethical and human rights frameworks.**  
(Indonesia)

New operative paragraph 9bis

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9 to read as follows:

- 9bis. Urges parliaments and the Inter-Parliamentary Union to advocate against international decoupling of data sets and AI models in order to prevent censorship and walling in of individual systems to make AI as inclusive, culturally open and nuanced as possible.**  
(Germany)

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**9bis. Invites the IPU, given the crucial role of parliaments in achieving the internationally agreed AI commitments, to explore modalities of providing a parliamentary input to the future Global Dialogue on AI Governance and other AI-related processes at the United Nations.**

*(Romania)*

New operative paragraphs 9bis and 9ter

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**9bis. Also urges parliaments and the IPU to support the establishment of national dedicated parliamentary bodies specializing in AI, tasked with overseeing and forecasting fast-changing AI trends, crafting parliamentary strategies and forward-looking legal frameworks, raising public awareness to promote responsible use of AI, and increasing parliamentary scrutiny of their government's algorithms, while striking the right balance between governance and innovation support;**

*(Thailand)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9bis to read as follows:

**9ter. Calls on the IPU to continue asserting its role in facilitating inter-parliamentary cooperation by providing a platform for parliamentarians to exchange and share knowledge, good practices, and solutions related to AI in line with international standards, principles, and guidance, in order to address challenges as AI technology advances around the world.**

*(Thailand)*

New operative paragraphs 9bis, 9ter and 9quater

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**9bis. Calls for the development of new strategies for AI pertaining to the labour market, as education and training on AI-related subjects are needed to strengthen employees' positions;**

*(Sweden)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9bis to read as follows:

**9ter. Notes the need for independent research on AI, guided by high ethical standards and without political or commercial interests or biases;**

*(Sweden)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9ter to read as follows:

**9quater. Insists that AI holds many promises, as it has the potential to revolutionize the labour market, making further education and training in AI crucial for countries and companies who want to prosper and develop economically on the competitive global market.**

*(Sweden)*

New operative paragraphs 9bis, 9ter, 9quater, 9quinquies and 9sixties

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9 to read as follows:

**9bis. Calls for the promotion of sustainable research and development in the field of AI, encompassing innovations designed to address global challenges related to human rights, particularly in the areas of epidemic prevention, public health enhancement, educational development and climate change mitigation.**

*(Bahrain)*



Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9bis to read as follows:

**9ter. Urges the enhancement of transparency and accountability in the deployment of AI by establishing standards that require companies to disclose their data usage and decision-making processes involved in AI applications.**

*(Bahrain)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9ter to read as follows:

**9quater. Calls for the development of specific cybersecurity standards for AI to safeguard systems against cyberattacks and bolster the security of personal and sensitive data.**

*(Bahrain)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9quater to read as follows:

**9quinquies. Emphasizes the necessity of establishing effective legal mechanisms to safeguard the electoral process from the risks associated with AI, including information falsification and media misinformation and its negative effects on the integrity of elections and democracy; these mechanisms should incorporate stringent measures to combat misleading information and manipulation in all forms, thereby preserving electoral integrity and enhancing confidence in the democratic system.**

*(Bahrain)*

Add a new paragraph after operative paragraph 9quinquies to read as follows:

**9sexties. Calls for enhancing cooperation between the public and private sectors and academic institutions to develop innovative and responsible solutions in the field of AI and ensure their effective implementation.**

*(Bahrain)*